JIMMA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF NATURAL SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY



Thesis On

ADSORPTIVE REMOVAL OF CHROMIUM (VI) FROM WATER USING ACTIVATED CARBON OF enseteventricosum midrib LEAF AND erythrina abyssinica

BY: MEGERSA MELKETO ADVISORS: FEKADUMELAK (PhD) TSEGAYE GIRMA (PhD)

MARCH, 2021 JIMMA, ETHIOPIA ADSORPTIVE REMOVAL OF CHROMIUM (VI) FROM WATER USING ACTIVATED CARBON OF enseteventricosum midrib LEAF AND erythrinaabyssinica

BY: MEGERSA MELKETO

ADVISORS: FEKADU MELAK (PhD)

TSEGAYE GIRMA (PhD)

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO COLLEGE OF NATURAL SCIENCES JIMMA UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER IN CHEMISTRY (ANALYTICAL)

Supervisors Signature of approval for defense

Advisor

FEKADU MELAK (PhD)

Assistant professor

Department of chemistry

College of Natural Sciences

Jimma University

Co-advisor

TSEGAYE GIRMA (PhD)

Department of chemistry

College of Natural Sciences

Jimma University

Examiner

GUTA GONFA (PhD)

Department of chemistry

College of Natural Sciences

Jimma University

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Above all, praise to almighty God, lord of creations, and the most merciful and compassionate who blessed me with prospective ability to attain my task in this research work. I would like to forward the greatest of my appreciation and gratitude to my advisor Fekadu Melak (PhD) and my co-advisor Tsegaye Girma (PhD) for their patience and constructive advice throughout the preparation of this work. I also owe a great deal of gratitude to my family, and my friends for their moral support.

I dedicate this thesis to my family specially my Mother who has taught me values and excellence which has enabled me to reach at this point of study in the life.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	ii
List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
List of Abbreviation	vii
ABSTRACT	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.2 Statement of the problem	3
1.3 Objectives of the study	4
1.3.1 General objective	4
1.3.2 Specific objective	4
1.4 Significance of the study	5
2.1. Chromium	6
2.2 Removal of Chromium	6
2.3 Adsorption and Adsorption phenomenon	7
2.5 Water treatment by adsorption	9
2.6Bio-adsorbents	9
2.7Low-cost adsorbents	10
2.8Types of materials for contaminant removal	10
2.11 Activated carbons (ACs)	10
2.12 Isotherm models for adsorption	11
3.1 Description of the Study Area	14
3.2 Materials and Equipment	14
3.3 Chemicals and Reagents	14
3.5 Adsorbent collection and preparation	15
3.5.1 Preparation of adsorbent (tella)	15
3.5.2 Preparation of adsorbent (Coffee)	15
3.5.3 Preparation of adsorbent (Barley)	15
3.5.4 Preparation of adsorbent (Ash, pineapple, clay, red scoria)	15
3.5.5 Screening of adsorbents	15
3.6 Physiochemical Characterization of sample	17
3.6.1 Moisture content	17

3.6.2 Volatility matter	
3.6.3 Ash preparation and its percent	
3.6.4 Fixed Carbon Content	
3.6.5 Surface Area of the adsorbents	
3.6.6 Point of zero charge	
3.7 Characterization of Adsorbent samples	
3.8 Preparation of working Cr (VI) and DPC solutions for UV-Vis's analysis	
3.9 Batch adsorption studies	
3.9.1 Effect of time	
3.9.1.1Kinetic study for adsorption of chromium	21
3.9.1.2 Intraparticle diffusion model	
3.9.2 Effect of pH	
3.9.3Effect of initial concentration	23
3.10 Adsorption isotherm models	23
3.11 Desorption process	24
4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.2. Physiochemical Characterization of sampl	
4.3.1 Moisture content	
4.3.2 Ash value	
Volatility	
4.3.4 Specific surface area determination	
4.3.5 Point of zero charge	
4.4.1 Fourier transforms infrared (FT-IR) spectrum analyses of EA powder	
4.6 Batch adsorption studies	
4.6.1 Effect of contact time	
4.7 Kinetic study for adsorption of chromium	
4.8Intraparticle diffusion	
4.9Effect of pH	40
4.10 Effect of chromium (VI) Concentration	
4.10.1 Adsorptionisotherm model	
4.11 Desorption of adsorbents	45
5. Conclusions and Recommendation	47
5.1 Conclusion	47

	5.2 Recommendation	.47
6.	REFERENCES	.48

List of Tables

- **Table: 1.0**Toxic Metal in Industrial Effluents
- **Table: 2.0**Hazardous effects of some heavy metals
- **Table: 3.0** List of Instruments used during the whole experiment
- Table: 4.1. The analyses of (AC-EVML) and (AC-EA) Activated adsorbents
- **Table: 4.0.** Screened adsorbents with their percent removal
- **Table: 4.2.**Parameter for kinetics study

List of Figures

Figure: 1 Heavy metal density

- Figure: 2: Compounds of chromium used for several purposes
- Figure: 3 Adsorption monolayers
- Figure: 5 Relationships between the three components of an adsorption system
- Figure: 3.1 Preparation of adsorbents and pretreatments
- Figure: 3.2 Activated carbons prepared from EVBL and EA
- Figure: 4.0 FTIR spectra of EA-AC and the Cr (VI)-loaded EA-AC, Cr (VI)
- Figure: 4.1 FTIR spectra of EVML-AC and the Cr (VI)-loaded EVML-AC, Cr (VI)
- Figure: 4.3. XRD diffract grams of EA and Cr-loaded EA
- Figure: 4.4. XRD diffract grams of AC-EVML and Cr-loaded AC-EVML
- Figure: 4.5. Percent removal for 0.1g of AC-EVML adsorbent 5mg/L conctration of chromium
- Figure: 4.6. Percent removal for AC-EA adsorbent Vs contact time
- Figure: 4.7. Effect of pH for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto activated AC-EVML carbon
- Figure: 4.8. Effect of pH for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto activated AC-EA carbon
- Figure: 4.9. Effect of Initial concentration for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions AC-EVML
- Figure: 4.10. Effect of Initial concentration for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions AC-EA
- Figure: 4.11. Pseudo first order for AC-EVML adsorbent
- Figure: 4.12. Pseudo second order for AC-EVML adsorbent
- Figure: 4.13. Pseudo first order for AC-EA adsorbent

- Figure: 4.14. Intra particle diffusion for AC-EA adsorbent
- Figure: 4.15. Langmuir isotherm for AC-EVML
- Figure: 4.16. Freundlich isotherm for AC-EA
- Figure: 4.17. Langmuir isotherm for AC-EVML
- Figure: 4.18. Freundlich isotherm for AC-EVML
- Figure: 4.19. Zero Point charge of AC-EVML.
- Figure: 4. 20. Zero Point charge of AC-EA

List of Abbreviation

AC	Activated carbon
Cr (III)	Chromium (III)
Cr (VI)	Chromium (VI)
DPC	Diphenyl carbazide
EA	Erythrina abyssinica
EDX	Energy dispersive X-ray
EVML	Enset ventricosum midrib of leaf
FTIR	Fourier transforms infrared
PFO	Pseudo first order
PSO	Pseudo second order
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
IARC	International agency for research on cancer
MPL	Maximum permissible level
USEPA	United state environmental protection
WHO	World Heath organizations
XRD	X- ray diffraction
UV VIS	Ultra-violet visible spectre photomètre

ABSTRACT

Discharge of chromium containing water solution into the environment poses a serious environmental and health problem. There is need for environmentally friendly and cost-effective methods for removal of chromium containing water. The main objective of present study is to investigate the adsorptive removal of chromium (VI) from aqueous solution using activated Carbon of Erythrinaabyssinica (AC-EA) & Enseteventricosummidrib leaf (AC-EVML) because it is high removal capacity, low cost and easy accessibility. Activated Carbon EVML and EA adsorbents were prepared Sulfuric acid activation method at 100 °C. Characterization of these adsorbents such as physicochemical parameter, point pf zero charge, Fourier transform infrared radiation spectroscopy, surface area and X-ray diffraction was done prior to bio sorption process. activated adsorbents were assessed in batch mode adsorption experiment for percentage chromium removal and milligrams per gram chromium uptake as a function of contact time, pH, and initial concentration. Results showed maximum removal efficiency for Cr (VI) at 9 h and 6 h contact time, by AC-EVML and AC-EA, respectively at 0.1 g and pH 2. Percentage removal of Cr (VI) increased with increasing contact time (from 0.5 h to 12 h). Sorption kinetics of chromium adsorption by activated adsorbents was predicted reliably using a pseudo-first order, pseudo-second order and intra particle diffusion model. The kinetic adsorption data well fitted to pseudo-second order. Equilibrium uptakes were evaluated using Langmuir, Freundlich and Temkin adsorption isotherm models and the equilibrium data well fitted into Langmuir isotherm. The study demonstrated the efficiency of activated adsorbents and presents it as a viable low-cost adsorbent for bioremediation.

Key: Chromium, efficiency, capacity, adsorption isotherm, kinetic isotherm, AC-EVML, AC-EA

1. INTRODUCTION

Water pollution using heavy metals including Cr(VI) is a serious environmental concern due to their toxiceffects.¹ The damages caused to the environment are due to industrial and domestic waste water and it adversely affect the human health.² The main sources of these metals are mining, tannery, battery manufacturing industries, fossil fuel, metallurgical and chemical manufacturing.³ The modern chemical industries are based largely on catalysts, many of which are metals or metal compounds; production of plastics, such as polyvinyl chloride, involves the use of metal compounds, particularly as heat stabilizers and so forth.⁴ Metals such as Cd, Cr, Co, Cu, Zn, Pd, Hg, Ni, Ag, and Sr and metalloids such as Se, As and Sb are toxic beyond the limit set at trace levels. Most of these trace elements are transition metals with variable oxidation states and coordination numbers.⁵

A marked increase in population, industrialization and urbanization in the last few decades has resulted in pollution of water via Cr (VI). This will directly or indirectly affect the environment. Chromium and its alloys have wider application in industries such as metal finishing, dyes, pigments, inks, glass, ceramics, tanning, textile, wood preserving and glues industries.⁶ Cr (VI) has been declared as a powerful carcinogenic agent by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) in 1982. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) approved0.1 mg/L as the maximum allowable concentration of Cr (VI) in drinking water. Excessive intake of chromium by human's leads to hepatic and renal damage, capillary damage, gastrointestinal irritation and central nervous system irritation. Maximum acceptable concentration of chromium in drinking water recommended by WHO is 0.01g.⁷

A number of treatment methods for the removal of chromium ions from aqueous solutions have been reported, mainly reduction, ion exchange, electro dialysis, electrochemical precipitation, evaporation, solvent extraction, reverse osmosis, and chemical precipitation.⁸ However, all these technologies have their inherent advantages and limitations in application. Most of the methods suffer from some draw backs such as incomplete chromium removal, low selectivity, high reagent and energy requirement, high capital and operational cost and generation of toxic sludge or other waste product that require careful disposal has made it imperative for a cost effective treatment method.⁹ In the present investigation, to estimate the amount of chromium ions present in its aqueous solutions before and after treatment and the removal of chromium from water solution using AC-EVML and AC-EA as an adsorbents were attempted. Though many conventional adsorbents are used for the effective removal of chromium (VI), AC-EVML and AC-EA.¹⁰ The present work is also aimed at fixing the optimal conditions such as initial concentration, pH and equilibrium time (for batch mode technique) for effective removal of chromium.¹¹

1.2 Statement of the problem

Chromium compounds are reported as priority pollutants, due to their mobility in natural water ecosystems and toxicity. They are stable and persistent environmental contaminants.¹² Cr exists in many oxidation states with Chromium (III) and Chromium (VI) being the primary existing oxidation states in the environment.¹³ Chromium (VI) is highly toxic, mutagenic and potentially carcinogenic to living organisms. Accumulation of Chromium (VI) in aqueous waste streams is therefore of great concern.¹⁴ Chromium carcinogenicities to humans and other living organisms has promulgated extensive research on its treatment technologies with varying levels of success; generally, the most efficient methods come with a significantly higher cost burden. Chromium (VI) from these sources can be achieved by physicochemical treatment processes such as ion exchange, coagulation-flocculation, chemical precipitation, evaporation, membrane filtration, electrochemical treatments, and adsorption.¹⁵ Adsorption processes have received significant attention due to several reasons, especially for those chromium ions that cannot be removed efficiently by other technique. Hence, it is expedient to device or seeks alternative methods of removing chromium (VI) from aqueous solution by using locally available and cheap adsorbents. To this effect, the research examines potential of to be AC-EVML and AC-EA prepared as adsorbent to remove Chromium (VI).¹⁶

Based on the above introductory brief discussion, this study is aimed to answer the following question.

- 1.Do the biomass-based **AC-EVML** and **AC-EA** adsorbent has promising efficiency for removal of Cr (VI) from model solution?
- 2. What isothermal and kinetic model does this adsorption process fits to?

1.3 Objectives of the study

1.3.1 General objective

The main objective of the research was to investigate adsorptive removal of Cr (VI) from water by using activated **AC-EVML** and **AC-EA** in a batch system

1.3.2 Specific objective

- > To screen adsorbents for the effective removal of Cr (VI)
- > To prepare adsorbents, AC-EVML and AC-EA, for removal of Cr (VI)
- > To characterize prepared adsorbents using FTIR and XRD
- > To optimize adsorption influencing parameters
- To evaluate adsorption capacities of activated AC-EVML and AC-EA for Cr (VI) from aqueous solution.

1.4 Significance of the study

This study was performed to motivate the use of natural adsorbents such as activated EVML and EA for the removal of chromium from water. It will be shown that the bio-adsorbent can absorb anions, cations, non-ionic and polar contaminants. After completion this study, it will play a vital role for providing substantial baseline information for treatment and purification water from Cr (VI). This study also shall provide a better solution to hexavalent chromium pollution in aqueous phase by developing an efficient activated adsorbent. It will provide an ideal technology to utilize and convert natural adsorbent into valuable product i.e., activated carbon which can be commercialized for the removal of contaminants from aqueous phase.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The scarcity of clean drinking water in the world has been a problem for decades. Some poisonous organic and inorganic contaminants, especially heavy metal ions such as Co(II), Ni (II), Cd (II), Pb (II), Hg (II), Cr (VI) and dyes, enter the food chain via wastewater. As a result, people, animals, and aquatic organisms are adversely affected.¹⁷

2.1. Chromium

Chromium (atomic number 24) is a steel-gray, lustrous, hard crystalline metal.¹⁸ It comprises about 0.037 percent of the earth's crust and therefore ranks 21st in relative natural abundance. Chromium (Cr) was first discovered in the Siberian red lead ore (crocoite) in 1798 by the French chemist Vauquelinite. The atomic weight is 51.99 g.mol⁻¹; specific gravity 7.18 to 7.20; melting point 1857 °C and boiling point 2672 °C.¹⁹

Chromium in its hexavalent form Cr (VI) is well known due to its health-related issues in humans including carcinogenic and mutagenic risks. Also, direct exposure to Cr (VI) can lead to lungs cancer, epigastria pain, vomiting and chronic diarrhea.²⁰ However, some of the industries that discharge wastewater containing chromium include fertilizer, electroplating, mining processing, metal processing, tanning, paints, battery and domestic plumbing materials. Chromium exists in two different oxidation states, that is, hexavalent chromium Cr (VI) and trivalent chromium [Cr (III)].²¹ Due to the negative effects of chromium, World Health Organization (WHO) has set a maximum permissible concentration for chromium in drinking water to be 0.05 mg/L. Thus, there is need to properly treat industrial effluent prior to it discharge into environment.²²

2.2 Removal of Chromium

The conventional physical and chemical methods used for the chromium removal from wastewater include reduction, solvent extraction, precipitation, ion exchange, membrane filtration, reverse osmosis and adsorption.²³Among various techniques, adsorption is the most promising technique to remove and eliminate Cr (VI) from drinking water. Application of ion exchange is an attractive method to remove heavy metal contaminations. Nowadays, chelating

resins are increasingly used in the removal of metal ions due to their high adsorption capacities, selectivity and durability.²⁴

2.3 Adsorption and Adsorption phenomenon

Adsorption is a process that occurs when a gas or liquid or solute (called adsorbate) accumulates on the surface of a solid or more rarely a liquid (adsorbent), forming a molecular or atomic film. Adsorption process can be influenced by a number of factors such as pH, adsorbate concentration, adsorbent dosage, and other factors.²⁵

There are several examples, which reveal that the surface of a solid has the tendency to attract and retain the molecules with which it comes into contact. These molecules remain only at the surface and do not go deeper into the bulk. The accumulation of molecular species at the surface rather than in the bulk of a solid or liquid is termed adsorption. The molecular species or substance, which concentrates or accumulates at the surface, is termed adsorbate and the material on the surface of which the adsorption takes place is called adsorbent. ²⁶



Figure 3: Adsorption monolayer

Adsorption is a mass transfer process which involves the accumulation of substances at the interface of two phases, such as, liquid–liquid, gas–liquid, gas–solid or liquid–solid interface. The substance being adsorbed is the *adsorbate* and the adsorbing material is termed the adsorbent.²⁷the properties of adsorbates and adsorbents are quite specific and depend upon their constituents.²⁸If the interaction between the solid surface and the adsorbed molecules has a physical nature, the process is called physisorption. In this case, the attraction interactions are van der Waals forces and, as they are weak the process results are reversible. Furthermore, it occurs lower or close to the critical temperature of the adsorbed substance.²⁹ On the other hand, if the attraction forces between adsorbed molecules and the solid surface are due to chemical bonding, the adsorption process is called chemisorption. Contrary to physisorption, chemisorption occurs only as a monolayer and, furthermore, substances chemisorbed on solid surface are hardly removed because of stronger forces at stake.³⁰

The adsorption process is a surface phenomenon in which the adsorbate is accumulated on the adsorbent surface. When a solution containing absorbable solute comes into contact with a solid with a highly porous surface structure, liquid–solid intermolecular forces of attraction cause

some of the solute molecules from the solution to be concentrated or deposited on the solid surface.³¹ In case of bulk materials, all the bonding requirements (ionic, covalent, or metallic) of the material constituent atoms are filled by other atoms in the material.³² However, the atoms on the surface of the adsorbent are not wholly surrounded by other adsorbent atoms, therefore they can attract adsorbates. The exact nature of the bonding depends on the details of the species involved, but the adsorption process is generally classified as physisorption (an adsorbate bound to the surface by weak Vander Waals forces), chemisorption' and adsorbate tethered through covalent bonding or due to electrostatic attraction.³³

the substance is concentrated only at the surface and does not penetrate through the surface to the bulk of the adsorbent, while in absorption, the substance is uniformly distributed throughout the bulk of the solid for example, when a chalk stick is dipped in ink, the surface retains the color of the ink due to adsorption of colored molecules while the solvent of the ink goes deeper into the stick due to absorption. On breaking the chalk stick, it is found to be white from inside.³⁴



Figure 4: Absorption versus Adsorption

2.4 Water treatment by adsorption

2.4.1 Bio-adsorbents

Bio-adsorbents of chromium from aqueous solutions is relatively a new process that has proven very promising in the removal of contaminants from aqueous effluents. Adsorbent materials derived from low-cost agricultural wastes can be used for the effective removal and recovery of chromium ions from wastewater streams.³⁵The major advantages of bio-sorption over conventional treatment methods include: low cost, high efficiency, minimization of chemical and/or biological sludge regeneration of bio sorbent.³⁶ At low concentrations of heavy metals, the conventional techniques such as chemical precipitation, membrane filtration, electrolysis, ion exchange, carbon adsorption are not cost-effective and suitable.³⁷ Low-cost bio sorbents are much suitable for high concentrations of metals. Various bio sorbents have been widely used for the treatment of chromium containing wastewaters.³⁸

2.4.2. Low-cost adsorbents

There are several locally existing materials that can be used for the removal of heavy metals. Low-cost adsorbents such as natural materials, agricultural wastes, modified biopolymers, or industrial by-products are found to be more encouraging in heavy metal removal due to the following considerations.³⁹ (I)They are economical, (II) they are metal selective, (III) they are regenerative, (IV) absence of toxic sludge generation (V) metal recovery and (VI) they are highly effective.⁴⁰ Recently, research for the removal of heavy metals from industrial effluent has been focused on the use of agricultural by-products as adsorbents through bio-sorption process. Moreover, biopolymers are posse a number of different functional groups, such as hydroxyls and amines, which increase the efficiency of metal ion uptake. The origin of the biomass must be taken into account while choosing the biomass for metal removal.⁴¹

2. 5 Activated carbons (ACs) Adsorbents

ACs are adsorbents broadly applied in wastewater treatments, owing to their high surface area and high adsorption capacity.⁴² ACs prepared from algal biomass, fruit shells, agricultural wastes, sawdust, etc., may represent an accessible alternative to existing commercial products, and diverse authors have reported a considerable efficiency using them.⁴² Functional groups reported in ACs prepared from nutshells include carbonyls, phenols, lactones and carboxyl's.⁴³

2.6 Types of materials for contaminant removal

Solid materials used as adsorbents can take a broad range of chemical forms and different

geometrical surface structures. This is reflected in the range of their applications in industry, or helpfulness in laboratory practice. Adsorbents can be usually classified in five categories: ⁴⁴

(1) Natural materials such as sawdust, wood, fuller's earth or bauxite;

(2) Natural materials treated to develop their structures and properties such as activated carbons, activated alumina or silica gel;

(3) Manufactured materials such as polymeric resins, zeolites or aluminosilicates;

2.7 Spectrophotometer determination Chromium from water

Spectrophotometric methods can be used for selective determination of the different chromium species using reagents to form absorbing species that present selectivity in the response. The most common method for determining Cr (VI) in aqueous solutions is based on the reaction of 1,5-diphenylcarbazide (DPC) with Cr (VI) at a pH of $2^{.45}$

Spectrophotometric analysis of the magenta chromogen (λ max~540 nm) which is formed by the reaction of Cr (VI) with 1,5-biphenylcarbide (DPC) in strongly acidic solution. Because of that, the development of analytical methods for speciation of Cr (III) and Cr (VI) is important compared to methods of determining these metals in total.⁴⁶

2.8. Adsorption kinetics

The prediction of adsorption rate gives important information for designing batch adsorption systems. In order to determine the rate limiting step during the adsorption process different kinetic models have been used to analyze the experimental data.⁴⁷ These models include first-order, pseudo second-order and intra-particle diffusion as the most important kinetic models. Adsorption kinetics describes the rate of solute uptake, which is also responsible for the residence time needed for an adsorption study.⁴⁸ Therefore, it is an important characteristic in defining how fast the sorption processes is carried out.

2.8.1 Pseudo first order model

First order model which is believed to be the earliest model, was developed by Langrage in 1898. To describe the kinetic process of liquid-solid phase adsorption he presented first order model as:

$$\log(q_e - q_t) = \log q_e - \frac{k_1}{2.303}t$$
-----2.1

Where, and *qt* represent the amount of adsorbed (mg/g) at equilibrium and at any time *t* and *k*1 is the first-order rate constant (min⁻¹). From the plots of $log(qe_qt)$ versus *t*, *k*1 can be calculated from the slope and theoretical *qe* can be obtained from intercepts.⁴⁹

Pseudo-second-order equation can be given by

$$\frac{t}{q_t} = \frac{1}{k_2 q_e^2} + \frac{1}{q_e} t - ----2.2$$

2.9.2 Intraparticle diffusion model

The kinetics data were tested against the intraparticle diffusion model to identify the actual ratecontrolling steps involved in the Cr (VI) sorption process. Generally, the sorption process of a sorbate by a porous sorbent can be classified as three steps as follows: ⁵⁰

- (i) external mass transfer across the hydrodynamic boundary layer film surrounding the sorbent particle,
- (ii) intraparticle diffusion of the sorbate molecules within the sorbent pores either by liquid filled pores or a solid surface diffusion process, and
- (iii) (iii) Adsorption at an active site on the external or internal surface of sorbent. The third step is often considered to be extremely rapid, thus the most contribution to the rate of adsorption is film or/and pore diffusion. The intraparticle diffusion model can be represented as follows

$$qt = kdt^{\frac{1}{2}} + C$$
-----2.3

2.10 Isotherm models for adsorption

There are two widely accepted and easily linearized adsorption isotherm models proposed by Langmuir and Freundlich respectively. The assumptions of the Langmuir model are: the surface consists of adsorption sites. all adsorbed species interact only with the sites and not with each other, adsorption is limited to a monolayer, adsorption energy of all sites is identical and independent of the presence of adsorbed species on the other sites.⁵¹

The linear form of Langmuir isotherm equation is given as

 $\frac{c_e}{q_e} = \frac{c_e}{q_m} + \frac{1}{q_m b_L} - 2.4$

Where q= uptake of species (mg/g), qmax = maximum uptake (mg/g), Ceq = equilibrium concentration in solution (mg/L), and b = constant related to energy of adsorption is the equilibrium or association constant (L/mg) and is related to the affinity between sorbent and sorbate.⁵² It is also represented as Ka. Low values of b are reflected in the steep initial slope of a sorption isotherm, indicating a desirable high affinity. Thus for "good" sorbents, a high qmax and a steep initial isotherm slope is desired. The values of qmax and KA can be found using the linear reciprocal plot of the equilibrium isotherm.

The linear form of Freundlich isotherm is given as: ⁵³

 $\log q_e = \log K_F + \frac{1}{n} \log C_e - 2.5$

q where qmax is solid phase metal concentration (mg/g), k = related to adsorbent capacity, 1/n = "Heterogeneity factor" ranging from 0 to 1 and C = bulk liquid phase metal concentration. This can be linearized by taking the natural logarithm of both sides of the equation to

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Description of the Study Area

The study was conducted in Jimma University located in the Oromia region of Ethiopia at a distance of around 346km south west of Addis Ababa. Different naturally available materials adsorbents were collected from Jimma city, and different chemical also collected from different laboratory such as Jimma Teachers college, Jimma technology institute and any other. Most of the research duties are done in the Jimma University Analytical Chemistry laboratory.

3.2 Materials and Equipment

The major equipment's and apparatus that were used during this thesis work includes Analytical balance (Ohaus, EP 214C Switzerland), grinder, 250 mL plastic bottles, Orbital shaker (GFL 3074 Model), Sieves (75 – 210 μ m size), pH meter (model: JENWAY; 3505 pH meter), magnetic stirrer, FTIR (model: Perkin Elmer Spectrum 65), XRD, drying oven (model: Memmert,100- 800 Germany) and Furnace (Nebertherm LHT 02/16 Germany). All glass wares (Conical flasks, Pipette, measuring cylinders, Beakers, Petri plates and Test tubes, volume metric flasks, plastic vials. UV Vis adsorption spectrophotometer (SPECORD*200 anaytikjena, GERMANY) was used to measure residual metal ion concentrations.

3.3 Chemicals and Reagents

In all experiments, distilled water was used for preparation. 2.2829 g of ($K_2Cr_2O_7$) was used for the preparation of the standard solutions for the study. Hydrochloric acid (HCl), sodium hydroxide (NaOH), and sulfuric acid H₂SO₄and 1.5-diphenylcarbazide. The stock solution of Cr (VI) containing concentration of 1000 mg/l was prepared by dissolving 2.829 g of potassium dichromate, $K_2Cr_2O_7$ analytical grade, in 1000 mL of distilled water. The required pH of the solution was adjusted by drop wise addition of 0.1 N HCl and NaOH depending on the acidity or basicity of the sample. The desired concentrations were obtained by diluting the stock solution with distilled water to obtain concentrations ranging from 5 to 100 mg/l.⁵⁴

3.4 Adsorbent collection and preparation

3.4.1 Preparation of adsorbent (Tella)

The residual of prepared Tella which is left after drinking most of it was collected from available area left for 2 to 4days in the sun light to dry. Then dried residue was washed t remove dirty materials. The residue again dried by sun light for next 2 to 4 days and used for adsorption study. ⁵⁵

3.4.2 Preparation of adsorbent (Coffee)

Adsorbent of coffee used was prepared by normal coffee was bought from market washed to remove impurities and roasted. Then the roasted coffee was grinded to use for experimental purpose.⁵⁶

3.4.3 Preparation of adsorbent (Barley)

The stem of barley was used for this experiment. They were collected from the available area washed to remove impurities repeatedly. Then barley was grinded into piece by knife and dried by sun light for 1 day. Further, it washed for removal of dirty material and ready experimental use ⁵⁷

3.4.4 Preparation of adsorbent (Ash, pineapple, clay, red scoria)

Ash was taken from home where different wood was burned to prepare food or any other purposes. Pineapples collected from available area, clay and red scoria are also obtained from their sources and washed several times to remove any dirty from them and sun dried. These materials were grinded and sieved to appropriate and used for experimental purpose ⁵⁸

3.5 Screening of adsorbents

0.1g of these adsorbents: pineapple, ash, coffee, barley, tella, clay soil, pumice stones red scoria **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA were added in to plastic vial and 40mL of 5mg/l of concentration chromium(vi) solution which was adjusted at pH 2 were mixed and shacked for 24h.Finally, the mixtures were filtered and the filtrate analyzed by UV VIS spectroscopic techniques.⁵⁹



Figure: 3.1Preparation of adsorbents and pretreatments

3.5.2 Preparation of activated carbon

The prepared adsorbents were activated chemically by sulfuric acid using a 1:1 w/w ratio. Concentrated H_2SO_4 (16% con,); 100 g of adsorbent placed in the beaker and 54.64 mL of H_2SO_4 was added to the adsorbent Then mixture was heated at 100°C on oven for 24 h. After 24 h the adsorbents were removed from the oven and cool. The activated sample were washed by distilled water until the acidity of the adsorbents removed.⁶⁰



Figure: 3.2 Activated carbons prepared from EVBL and EA

3.6 Physiochemical Characterization of sample

3.6.1 Moisture content

Moisture content: moisture content was determined using ASTM D2867-91 method. This was determined by loss on drying method. A crucible amount weighed, for each adsorbent of AC-EVML and AC-EA was taken and then the crucible was placed in an electric hot air oven maintained at 105 ^oC. The sample was weighed at regular intervals of 30 minutes and once the weight observed became constant, the moisture content was calculated using the equation 3.1.⁶¹

Moisture content present in the adsorbents prepared from AC-EVML and AC-EA were determined by using the gravimetric method. The water mass was determined by measuring the weight of sample origin and drying. The water weight was the difference between the weights of the wet sample and dry sample.⁶²

% mois ture =
$$\left(\frac{(W1-W2) - (W3-W1)}{W2-W1}\right)$$
 100------3.1

Where W_1 = weight of the crucible, W_2 = weight of the sample and crucible before drying, W_3 = weight sample and crucible after drying

Moisture content was carried out by first washing the Petri dish material and dried on the oven at 155^oC. Then Petri dish was weight and each adsorbent also weight, again the Petri dish and sample weight together. Each reading was recorded. The sample was put into oven for 2h to dry

the adsorbent then measure the sample again for the second time take a record and these can be continuous up to constant measurement is obtained. Then moisture content was calculated using the following expression.⁶³

3.6.2 Volatility matter

1g of oven-dried, powdered sample was taken in crucible. Then the crucible was kept in furnace for 10 min at the temperature of 550°C. The crucible was taken out of the furnace and allowed to cool in a dissector. Volatility of the adsorbents prepared from AC-EVML and AC-EA were measured by heating the adsorbent on the oven at 550°C for 10min. The weight of the adsorbent before heating and after heating is measured and percent volatility of the adsorbent is measured as follow: ⁶⁴

% volatility =
$$\left(\frac{(W2-W1)-(W3-W1)}{W2-W1}\right)$$
 100------3.2

Where, w1 represents weight of crucible, w2 weight of sample and crucible, w3 represents weight of crucible and sample after incineration for the given time.

3.6.3 Ash preparation and it's percent

Ash is defined as the quantity of mineral matter which remains as incombustible of testing substance. Ash content determination was done according to the ASTM D2866-94 standard procedure. A 1gram sample of adsorbents from the oven dried sample was placed in a crucible and transferred into muffle furnace at a temperature of 550°C. Then the crucible was cooled at room temperature in desiccator and its weight was recorded. The heating, cooling and weighing cycle was repeated until constant weight was obtained. Once a constant weight was observed, the % ash content (dry basis) was calculated as: The percent ash is measured as follow: ⁶⁵

$$\% As = \left(\frac{(w_3 - w_1)}{w_2}\right) 100 - \dots - 3.3$$

Where, W1 = weight of the crucible, W2 = weight of the crucible and sample before igniting, W3 = weight of crucible and sample after igniting

3.6.4 Fixed Carbon Content:

Fixed carbon was the combustible residue left after removing the moisture content, volatile matter and ash from the sample. The fixed carbon of samples was calculated by subtracting the sum of moisture content, ash content (%) and volatile matter (%) from 100.⁶⁶

Fixed carbon (%) = 100 - (moisture, % + ash, % + volatile matter, %) = 3.4

3.6.5 Surface Area of the adsorbents

The **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA specific surface area was determined.0.5 g of adsorbents was mixed with 50mL of distilled water and 30 g NaCl.

The mixture was shaken for 5min. Its final pH was adjusted to 4 with 0.1 M of NaOH and HCl. It was then titrated against 0.1M NaOH to raise the pH from 4 to 9 and the volume (mL) of 0.1M NaOH used was measured in replicate and the average value was taken for the surface area calculation by sears method. Specific surface area of adsorbent was calculated using the formula Sears method: ⁶⁷

S = 32V-25 ------3.5

Were, V is a volume NaOH used 32 and 25 sears' constant

3.6.6 Point of zero charge

The activated carbon point of zero charge (pHpzc) is defined as the pH of aqueous solution in which the solid exists under neutral electrical potential, and on the characterization of acidic and basic surface sites on carbon. Point of zero charge were carried out by the 0.1 g of each adsorbent were added in the plastic vial with 40 mL of 0.1M and 0.01MNaCl solution which is prepared with different pH (2-12) and shacked in to the shaker for 48 h the final pH of the solution was measured by pH meter. Changing in pH and initial pH plotted to determine point of zero charge.⁶⁸

3.7 Characterization of Adsorbent samples

Functional groups in **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA and chromium loaded **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA powder were examined by using the Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) method of analysis. The FTIR spectrophotometer was analyzed based on changes in dipole moment resulting from bond vibration upon absorption of IR radiation. It was carried out at room temperature using Spectrum 65FT-IR (Perkin Elmer) in the average range 4000-400 cm⁻¹ using KBr pellets. The wave numbers associated to signals in the FTIR spectra from chemical functional groups were determined. XRD analysis was carried out to know the crystal phase composition of **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA. The diffraction patterns were obtained in the 2θ range from 10-90°.⁶⁹

3.8 Preparation of working Cr (VI) and DPC solutions for UV-Vis's analysis

A series of five working standard solutions containing 0.01, 0.1, 0.05, 1 and 2 mg/L of hexavalent chromium including a blank solution were prepared from the stock solution. A0.25 g of DPC, which is a common complexing agent for chromium (VI), was dissolved in 50mL acetone and shacked until complete dissolution. 2 mL 0.5M of sulfuric acid and a freshly prepared 1mL DPC solution were then added to each sample solution and working standard, a pink color was immediately developed. The standard and sample solutions concentrations were then analyzed using the UV–Visible spectrophotometer at a wave length of 540nm.⁷⁰

3.9 Batch adsorption studies

In all experiments, distilled water was used for preparation. Potassium dichromate (K₂Cr₂O₇), stock solution containing chromium 1000mg/L was prepared by dissolving 2.829 g of potassium dichromate in 1000 ml of distilled water. All experiments were carried out in batch mode.⁶⁹The batch adsorption studies were conducted at room temperature by agitating (150 rpm) weighed quantities of the adsorbent in 40mL of chromium water solutions at the required pH, contact time, initial concentration and dose of adsorbent. These experiments were run in the same plastic vial. In each plastic vial first determined amount of adsorbent was added. 40mL chromium solution was added to the plastic vial which contains adsorbent.⁷¹ After shaking the sample was filtered by what man membrane filter paper of pore size 0.45µm using a syringe. Finally, the sample was analyzed by UV Vis for the remaining chromium in the solution. Equilibrium of this

experiment was studied using Langmuir, and Freundlich, isotherm models. The kinetics was also studied by Pseudo- first order, Pseudo-second order and intra particle diffusion models.

3.9.1 Effect of time

The effect of contact time on the adsorption efficiency and the optimum contact time for the process was studied by conducting the experiment from 0.5 to 12h with one hour time interval keeping other parameters such as pH (2), initial concentration and dose constant at 5mg/Land 0.1g of activated adsorbents. The experiment was carried out at150 rpm incubator shaker and room temperature. After the time required for adsorption arrived the adsorbent and the solution was filtered by Whatman 0.45 filter paper. The filtrate was analyzed using UV Vis for the remaining chromium in the solution.⁷²

% Removal of Cr (VI)
$$=\frac{c_0 - c_e}{c_0} \times 100$$
------3.5

The adsorption Cr (VI) capacity per unit mass of the adsorbent was calculated according to the following expression:

Where Ci and Ce are the initial and final chromium concentrations (mg/L), respectively, qe is the amount of Cr (VI) adsorbed onto adsorbents (mg/g), V is the total volume of solution (L), and m is the adsorbent dosage (g).

3.9.1.1 Kinetic study for adsorption of chromium

The kinetic isotherm studies were carried out by varying the contact time from (0.5-12h) at concentration of 5mg/L at fixed volume (40mL), pH (2), optimum uptake time and room temperature. The results were analyzed by pseudo first, pseudo second order and intraparticle diffusion isotherm models.⁷³

The pseudo-first-order equation can be expressed as

$$\log(q_e - q_t) = \log q_e - \frac{k_1}{2.303}t$$
------3.7

Where, and *qt* represent the amount of adsorbed (mg/g) at equilibrium and at any time *t* and *k*1 is the first-order rate constant (min⁻¹). From the plots of $log(qe_qt)$ versus *t*, *k*1 can be calculated from the slope and theoretical *qe* can be obtained from intercepts.

Pseudo-second-order equation can be given by

$$\frac{t}{q_t} = \frac{1}{k_2 q_e^2} + \frac{1}{q_e} t - ----3.8$$

3.9.1. 2 Intraparticle diffusion model

The kinetics data were tested against the intraparticle diffusion model to identify the actual ratecontrolling steps involved in the Cr (VI) sorption process. Generally, the sorption process of a sorbate by a porous sorbent can be classified as three steps as follows: ⁷⁴

- (iv) external mass transfer across the hydrodynamic boundary layer film surrounding the sorbent particle,
- (v) (ii) intraparticle diffusion of the sorbate molecules within the sorbent pores either by liquid filled pores or a solid surface diffusion process, and
- (vi) (iii) Adsorption at an active site on the external or internal surface of sorbent. The third step is often considered to be extremely rapid, thus the most contribution to the rate of adsorption is film or/and pore diffusion. The intraparticle diffusion model can be represented as follows

$$qt = k dt^{\frac{1}{2}} + C$$
-------3.9

3.9.2 Effect of pH

The effect of the solution pH on chromium metal ions removal using activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA as an adsorbent was conducted, using a 40 mL solution of 5 mg/L of metal ion solution in the pH range of 2 to 12 at 25°C and adsorbent dosage used was 0.1 g per 40 mL solution. Flasks were shaken on an incubator shaker for 150 rpm shaking speed and 9 and 6 h contact time to make sure equilibrium is reached. After equilibrium was reached, the solutions were filtrated and analyzed to determine the metal ion concentration.⁷⁵

3.9.3 Effect of initial concentration

Another most important factor in the adsorption process was the initial concentration of chromium. Samples in the concentration range of (10-100) mg/L with 10 mg/L interval were prepared for the sake of determining the effect of initial concentration of chromium on the removal efficiency. Then it was put on the orbital shaker at 150rpm and room temperature by maintaining pH, dose and contact time constant at 0.1g and 9 and 6 h for activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA adsorbents respectively. Then the residual chromium ion concentration was recorded.⁷⁶

3.9.1 Adsorption isotherm models

Isotherm studies are essential to interpret the adsorption process adequately. Several models have been used to describe experimental data for adsorption isotherms. However, among these, the Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms are the most appropriate models for this study. According to the Langmuir isotherm, adsorption occurs at homogenous sites and forms a monolayer adsorption can take place. In other words, once adsorbate is attached to a site, no further. Langmuir assumes monolayer adsorption on homogeneous surfaces with energetically equivalent adsorption sites, without interactions between the adsorbate molecules and it allows estimation of the maximum adsorption capacity of the adsorbent⁷⁷

The linear form of Langmuir isotherm equation is given as

$$\frac{c_e}{q_e} = \frac{c_e}{q_m} + \frac{1}{q_m b_L} - 3.10$$

Where (mg/g) is the equilibrium concentration of hexavalent Chromium in the adsorbed phase and (mg/L) is the equilibrium concentration in the liquid phase. Langmuir constants, which are related to the adsorption capacity (qm) and energy of adsorption (b_L) , can be calculated from the slope of the linear plot of *Ce/qeversus Ce*; a straight line with slope 1/qmax and intercept of 1/qmax*bL*is obtained. The essential characteristics of the Langmuir equation can be expressed in terms of a dimensionless factor, *RL*which is given as.⁷⁸

$$R_L = \frac{1}{1 + b_L C_o} - 3.11$$

Where Co initial concentration RL value indicates the adsorption nature to be either unfavorable if RL>1, linear if RL=1, favorable if 0 < RL < 1 and irreversible if RL = 0.

In this study the equilibrium data obtained from the batch experiments were also analyzed by one of the most frequently used adsorption models, i.e., Freundlich the empirical model that describes multilayer adsorption on heterogeneous surfaces where the parameter 1/n F is a measure of the surface heterogeneity, which becomes more heterogeneous as its value gets closer to zero. The value of 1/n F< 1 implies chemisorption's' process and 1/n F> 1 indicates cooperative adsorption. At low adsorbate concentrations it is reduced to the Freundlich isotherm and at high concentrations the equation is transformed into the Langmuir isotherm, predicting monolayer adsorption.⁷⁹

The linear form of Freundlich isotherm is given as:

 $\log q_e = \log K_F + \frac{1}{n} \log C_e - 3.10$

3.10 Desorption process

After Cr (VI) adsorption, the adsorbents were washed thoroughly with deionized water and treated with the desorption agents such as HCL and NaOH. Desorption tests were performed using HCL and NaOH. As 0.1g of saturated activated adsorbents was examined in 50mL of plastic vials and added 0.1MHCl and 0.1MNaOH of solution independently and shaken for 24h and then filtered. The filtrate was analyzed by UV Vis.⁸⁰

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter provides result of laboratory analysis made for activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA, characterization, effects of parameters such as pH, concentration of chromium and contact time removal capacity of the adsorbents are presented. The aqueous solution of chromium loaded with the adsorbents and performance of the adsorbents were evaluated by varying the parameters according to literature. And with amendments to optimize those factors which affect the performance of adsorbents for aqueous solution of chromium.⁸¹

4.1 Adsorbents screening

The result below shows the capabilities each adsorbent to ward removal of chromium (VI)

Adsorbents	% removal
pean apple	56.12
Ash	21.25
Coffee	69.14
Barley	89.54
Tella,	94.32
EVML	99.91
EA	100.12
Charcoal	56.21
Red scoria	12.35
Pumice stone	63.25
Clay	58.47

Table: 4.0. Screened adsorbents with their percent removal

From the above result AC-EVML and AC-EA were selected for this experiment.

4.2. Physiochemical Characterization of sample

The moisture content, Volatility content, ash content and fixed carbon content were measured and the following result were obtained

4.3.1 Moisture content

Measuring the moisture content of the adsorbent is one of the important features in order to know the adsorbent quality.⁸¹Moisture content of activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA were determined to be 12.5 and 21.7.5%, respectively. The moisture content of a sample refers to the percentage of water content of the sample. The lower the moisture content, the higher its adsorption efficiency since water molecules can have the potential effect in the pores of an adsorbent through filling the adsorbent binding site before it contacts with the solution.⁸²

4.3.2 Ash value

The ash content is a measure of total amount of inorganic compounds such as minerals in the activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA. The **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA were found to contain 12.32% and 18.4% ash, respectively. The higher the ash values the higher removal efficiency has been reported in literature.⁸³

4.3.3 Volatile mater and fixed carbon content of AC-EVML and AC-EA

The laboratory result of volatile matter for activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA adsorbents were 16.74 and 23.26%, respectively.

4.3.3.1 Fixed carbon content

Fixed carbon is the solid combustible residue that remains after the **AC-**EVML and **AC-**EA were heated and the volatile matter was expelled. The fixed-carbon content of **AC-**EVML and **AC-**EA was determined by subtracting the percentages of moisture, volatile matter, and ash from a sample and it was obtained 59.76 and35.84 respectively %. ⁸⁴

4.3.4 Specific surface area determination

The surface area was calculated using Eq. 7 under the materials and methods section. The resulting specific surface area was 21.72 and 136.92m²/g. higher surface area of the adsorbent supports higher adsorption capacity because the surface area is one of the decisive factors in the sorption process⁸⁷.So, the larger the adsorbent surface area the greater adsorption capacity of sorbents. Activated **AC**-EVML has a higher surface area than activated **AC**-EA. Adsorbent with composition of the **AC**-EVML is 6.303 times than highest sorption capacity compared to **AC**-EA.⁸⁵

	AC-EA adsort	pent		AC-EVML adsorbent		
Parameters	Weight before dried(W ₂) (g)	Weight after dried (W ₁) (g)	% of Sample (W ₂ - W ₁)/W ₂ *100	Weight before dried (W ₂) (g)	Weight after dried (W ₁) (g)	% of Sample (W ₂ - W ₁)/W ₂ *100
Moisture	1.04	0.91	21.7	1.01	0.79	12.5
Volatility	1.0	0.7674	23.26	1.0	0.826	16.74
Ash	1.5	1.074	28.4	1.5	1.465	2.333
Carbon content	[100 – (% ash +% volatility +% moisture) = (100-64.16) = 35.84			[100 – (% ash - 40.24) = 59.76	+%volatility +%m	oisture) = (100-

4.3.5 Point of zero charge

To understand the adsorption mechanism, it is necessary to determine the point of zero charge (pHpzc) of the adsorbent because the point of zero charge is the pH value at which the surface charge of an adsorbent equals to zero. At pH value less than pHpzc, the surface charge on the

adsorbent is a net positive charge, while at pH value greater than pHpzc the surface charge on the adsorbent is a net negative charge. Therefore, anion adsorption on surface of any adsorbent is favorable at pH value lower than pHpzc⁸⁸. Here, the experimental results of pHpzc (Change in pH Vs initial pH) of activated **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA adsorbents were obtained as 3 for both adsorbents as shown in the figure below. Change in pH means pH of the solution after adsorbent is added and shacked for 24h minus initial pH of the solution before adsorbent is added. ⁸⁶



Figure: 4.1Zero Point charge of 0.1 and 0.01M of NaCl of EVML powder



Figure: 4.2 Zero Point charge of 0.1 and 0.01M of NaCl of EA powder

4.4 Characterization of the Adsorbent

4.4.1 Fourier transforms infrared (FT-IR) spectrum analyses of EA powder

The Fourier transfer infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) analysis has been considered as a kind of direct mean for identifying the characteristic functional groups on the surface of the adsorbents which are responsible for adsorption of chromium ions.⁸⁷ The FTIR spectrum of **AC**-EA powder was obtain the information regarding the stretching and bending vibrations of these functional groups. Figure 4.3 illustrates the FTIR analysis for **AC**-EA through numerous bands from 4000 to 400 cm^{-1.}



Figure: 4.3 FTIR spectra of AC-EA and the Cr (VI)-loaded, AC-EA



Figure: 4.4 FTIR spectra of AC-EVML and the Cr (VI)-loaded, AC-EVML Cr (VI)

The IR spectrum of **AC**-EVML is shown in Figure 5. The peaks are found at 1030 and 1300, 1450 and 1640and 1540 which confirm the presence of C–O, C=O, and C=C, stretching vibrations, respectively. The band appears at 3345 cm⁻¹, which indicated the presence of water molecules (O–H stretching mode of hydroxyl groups.⁸⁹The peaks obtained.⁹⁰

4.5 X-ray diffraction analysis (XRD)

The phase of the developed adsorbent is also studied using XRD radiation. The peaks relating to the phase were detected for the **AC**-EA at 800°C for 2h. From figure below the narrow diffraction peaks indicated the phase composition has amorphous structure.

The XRD pattern for the adsorbents is shown in Figure 4.5. There is no peak identified in the spectrum and therefore, the particle size of developed adsorbent cannot be calculated using the Scherer formula.

The distorted pattern depicts that there is no crystalline in the adsorbents and that it purely has only the amorphous nature.⁹¹



Figure: 4.5. XRD diffract grams of AC-EA and Cr-loaded AC-EA



Figure: 4.6. XRD diffract grams of AC-EVML and Cr-loaded AC-EVML

The phase of the developed adsorbent is also studied using XRD radiation for adsorbent AC-EVML. The peaks relating to the phase were detected for the AC-EVML at 800°C for 2h. From figure below the narrow diffraction peaks indicates the phase composition have amorphous structure which is the same as to AC-EVML adsorbent. The wavelength considered is 1.54 A^o and 2q ranges from 10° to 90° at a step size of 0.01° .⁹²

The XRD pattern for the adsorbents is shown in Figure 4.6. There is no peak identified in the spectrum and therefore, the particle size of developed adsorbent cannot be calculated using the Scherer formula. The distorted pattern depicts that there is no crystalline in the adsorbents and that it purely has only the amorphous nature.⁹³

4.6 Batch adsorption studies

4.6.1 Effect of contact time

The effect of contact time on the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions using AC-EVML and AC-EA adsorbents investigated over time interval of 0.5h to 12 h. Figure 4.7 represents the results of the effects of contact time on the Cr (VI) adsorption. As illustrated in figure 4.7, it can be concluded that as the contact time increases, percent removal also increases until equilibrium was reached at 9 and 6 h respectively for AC-EVML and AC-EA adsorbents.⁹⁴And it is clear that increasing the contact time beyond the 9 and 6 h for both adsorbents had not significant impact on adsorption performance. The percentage removal of the AC-EVML and AC-EA are 99.98% and 99.86% at 9 and 6 h, respectively.



Figure: 4.7 percent removal for 0.1g of EVML adsorbent 5mg/L conctration of chromium Vs contact time

This can be explained by the fact that initially, the rate of ion uptake was faster because all sites on the adsorbent were vacant and ion concentration was high, but decrease in adsorption sites reduced the uptake rate. From experimental result the adsorption capacity increase with increase contact time which means the adsorptioncapacity for AC-EVML is increase from 0.9199mg/g-2.025mg/g and decreased slightly then decrease beyond this point.⁹⁵



Figure: 4.8 percent removal for 0.1g of EA adsorbent 5mg/L conctration of chromium Vs contact time

From experimental result the adsorption capacity increase with increase contact time which means the adsorption capacity for **AC**-EA is increase from 1.458mg/g to 2.020 mg/g and constant beyond this point. This show that initially adsorption is faster gradualy but deccrease because of active site of the adsorbent was filled as time of adsorption increase.⁹⁶

4.7 Kinetic study for adsorption of chromium

The kinetic model's pseudo first order, pseudo-second-order and intra-particle diffusion were used to analyze the kinetic behavior of the chromium sorption process.⁹⁷ The kinetic rate constants, adsorption capacities and correlation coefficient were calculated from the slope and

intercept of their corresponding graphs for the all adsorbents.⁹⁸ The pseudo second order equation appeared to be the best fitting model than both first order for both adsorbents because it has highest R^2 which is 0.999 and 0.998 value for **AC**-EA and **AC**-EVML adsorbents respectively. This kinetic study confirmed that bio sorption of Cr ions on **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA adsorbents were a multistep process involving adsorption Cr ions on the external surface.¹⁰⁵ Therefore, the adsorption process can be approximated more favorably by the pseudo-second order kinetic model. The pseudo-second order kinetic model is also based on the sorption capacity of the adsorbent and it assumes that adsorbents follow a second-order mechanism, so the rate of occupation of adsorption sites is proportional to the square of the number of available vacant space. The pseudo-second order kinetic model is expressed in equation 3.8. The value qe and K₂ was calculated from the plot t/qt vs t corresponding slope and intercept respectively.¹⁰⁶



Figure: 4.9 Pseudo first order for EVML adsorbent



Figure: 4.10. Pseudo second order for EVML adsorbent



Figure: 4.12 Pseudo first order for EA adsorbent



Figure: 4.11. Pseudo second order for EA adsorbent

4.8 Intraparticle diffusion

The amount of Hexavalent Chromium adsorbed per unit mass of adsorbent at time t, qt, as a function of the square root of the contact time, $t_{1/2}$), was examined using the intraparticle diffusion model. It is assumed that the larger the intercept, the greater the contribution of the surface adsorption in the rate-controlling step.⁹⁹

In the adsorption process, it might be possible that the mass-transfer rate of adsorbate molecules is controlled by the intra-particle diffusion. It is suggested that the best fit line should pass through the origin for intra-particle diffusion, which is not the case here. This confirms the fact that the intra-particle diffusion is not the only rate-controlling step during the adsorption of Cr (VI) on AC-EVML and AC-EA, and that there is also a significant contribution of the film diffusion

mechanism.100



Figure : 4.12. Intra-particle diffusion for EVML adsorbent



Figure: 4.13. Intraparticle diffusion for EA adsorbent

Adsorbents	First order kinetic model			Pseudo Second order			Intraparticle Diffusion				
	qe mg/g	qcal mg/g	K 1	R ²	qe	qcal	K ₂	R ²	Kd	С	R ²
	(cal)	(cal)	(mg/		mg/	mg/g	(mg/g		(mg/g		
			g		g	(cal)	min)		mino.5)		
			min)		(cal)						
EVML	2.02	3.30	0.682	0.953	2.02	2.19	0.7029	0.998	2.573	0.888	0.838
			4								
EA	2.02	1.08	0.663	0.953	2.02	2.05	4.784	0.999	5.181	1.518	0.742

 Table 4.3 Parameters of different isotherms of kinetics

4.9 Effect of pH

The pH values affect the adsorbent surface charge, the degree of ionization, and speciation of adsorbate during adsorption. The graph in figure below showed that the percentage removal of Cr (VI)higher at lower pH. This was due to the fact that the Point of zero charge of the adsorbents were at pH = 3. The cationic adsorption is favored at pH lower than pHpzc. Minimum percent removal of Cr was observed 31.31 and 19.288 for AC-EVML and AC-EA, respectively at pH higher and the maximum removal was 100.39 % and 100.19 % at pH 2 for the two adsorbents respectively.¹⁰¹

It can be seeing that the maximum of Hexavalent Chromium adsorption occurs at the lowest pH value. This finding has been reported by several investigators who have found that Hexavalent Chromium removal by activated carbon is enhanced in the acidic range of pH. The favorable effect of low pH can be attributed to the neutralization of negative charges on the surface of the adsorption by excess hydrogen ions, thereby facilitating the diffusion of hydrogen chromate ions $(HCrO_4^{-})$ and their subsequent adsorption, $(HCrO_4^{-})$ is the dominant and ionic form of 4.0^{102} 2.0 This hexavalent Chromium between pН and ionic form was found to be preferentially adsorbed on the surface of carbon. The negative charges could result from oxisting the surface of the surfac

ygenatedfunctional groups of basic character and physically adsorbed at the surface of the pores of activated



Figure: 4.14. Effect of pH for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto activated EVML carbon



Figure: 4.15. Effect of pH for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto activated EA carbon

4.10 Effect of chromium (VI) Concentration

Adsorption efficiency of adsorbents were studied from 10 mg/L– 100 mg/L Cr (VI) concentrations with 0.1g of adsorbent dose and pH 2.0, shaking to equilibrium. The best adsorption efficiency for the removal was found to be at lower concentrations whereas adsorption capacity increased as concentration increased per gram of adsorbent. Lower concentration more adsorbent active sites were available make adsorption but as concentration increase the active site of the adsorbent can be saturated with chromium.¹⁰³



Figure: 4.16 Effect of Initial concentration for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto activated EVML



Figure: 4.17 Effect of Initial concentrations for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto activated EA carbon

Maximum % removal of chromium by AC-EVML is 99.97% and by AC-EA is 100.07 at 10 mg/L On the other hand, maximum Cr(VI) ion adsorption capacity of AC-EVML is 16.32 mg/g at initial concentration of 60 mg/L and that of AC-EA is 10.17 mg/g at initial concentration of 70 mg/L.¹⁰⁴The increase in adsorption capacity with increasing initial concentration is due to the fact that, at fixed adsorbent dose with increasing the metal concentration, all the available active sites of the adsorbent would be fully exposed to get occupied by the metal ions that are in excess saturating and yielding a higher adsorption capacity. But from some point the adsorption capacity become decreasing this due to the decreases of the adsorbent active site as result saturation.¹⁰⁵

4.10.1 Adsorption isotherm Model

The Langmuir and Freundlich equations are commonly used for describing the adsorption equilibrium for Cr (VI) removal.¹⁰⁶ The linear forms of the Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms are used. Langmuir model fitted very well to the sorption data in the studied concentration range with a higher correlation coefficient R² value 0.988 and 0.994 for adsorbent AC-EA and AC-EVML respectively as shown in below. The Langmuir model assumes that maximum adsorption occurs when a saturated monolayer of solute molecules is present on the surface of the identical (specific) adsorbent, the energy of adsorption is fixed and molecules of the adsorbent will not migrate in the surface plane. The q_m values of the Langmuir constants were calculated from Ce/qe vs Ce plot as 15.38mg/g and 9.803mg/g for AC-EVML and AC-EA adsorbents and b value 1.711 L/mg and 6.377 L/mg for AC-EVML and AC-EA adsorbents respectively. RL a separation factor given as $\frac{1}{1+bCo}$ also showed a result between 0 and 1 which explains a favorable adsorption.

The adsorption process can be described as unfavorable if RL > 1, linear if RL = 1, favorable if 0 < RL < 1 and irreversible if RL = 0. The value of RL obtained in this study is between 0 and 1, which suggests the Langmuir isotherm model is favorable in this study.



Figure: 4.18. Langmuir isotherm for EVML



Figure: 4.19. Freundlich isotherm for EA



Figure: 4.20 Langmuir isotherm for EVML



Figure: 4.21Freundlich isotherm for EVML

Table 4.4 Parameters of different isotherms of adsorption

Adsorbent	Langmuir constants			Freundlich constants		
	Qo	В	R ²	K _F	Ν	R ²
EVML	15.38	1.711	0.994	0.075	2.87	0.955
EA	9.803	6.377	0.988	0.7209	1.97	0.787

4.11 Desorption of adsorbents

The recovery of Cr (VI) from the adsorbent was performed using 0.1MNaOH solution. Adsorbent dose of 0.1 g was loaded with 40 ml of 5 mg/L of chromium solution. The Cr (VI) was absorbed by AC-EVML and AC-EA. Desorption studies attempted to recover Cr (IV) from metal ion loaded adsorbent for above-mentioned concentration. The results show that 73% of the adsorbed Cr (VI) was desorbed from AC-EVML using 0.1 M NaOH and 47% of the adsorbed Cr (VI) was desorbed from AC-EVML using 0.1 M NaOH and 47% of the AC-EVML and AC-EA using 0.1M NaOH. During desorption studies, the AC-EVML and AC-EA surface were completely covered by Na⁺ ions. It is evident from generally, the regeneration of adsorbents resulted in the release of Cr (VI) ions from adsorbent's surface to the solution and regenerated adsorbents can be reused for Cr (VI) removal from aqueous solution.¹¹

4.12. Comparison adsorbents capacity

TABLE 4.5 Maximum Adsorbent Car	apacity of Various (Commercial and Low-O	Cost Adsorbents
---------------------------------	----------------------	----------------------	-----------------

S.NO.	Adsorbents	Maximum adsorbent	Reference
		capacity (mg/g)	
1	Nano porous activated neem bark	26.95	16
	(nANB)		
2	Coca nut shell based	20.0	85
3	Sugar beet pulp	17.2	73
4	Maize cob	13.8	81
5	Cactus	7.08	48
6	Waste tea	1.55	65
7	Soya cake	0.28	89
8	Walnut shell	1.33	97
9	Coal	6.78	42
10	Palm pressed fibers	15.0	63
11	Leaf mould	25.9	73
12	Sugarcane bagasse	13.4	73
13	AC-EVML	16.32	This work
14	AC-EA	10.17	This work

Table 4.5 shows that the maximum Adsorbent Capacity of AC-EVML and AC-EA is comparable with some of the Various Commercial and Low-Cost Adsorbents and can have promising adsorption capacity for removal Cr (VI) from water solution.

5. Conclusions and Recommendation

5.1 Conclusion

In the present study, a low-cost adsorbent of **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA are activated using sulfuric acid and is used for the removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous solution. Adsorption capacity is found to increase with an increase in contact time and initial Cr (VI) concentration. The experimental equilibrium data are best fitted with Langmuir isotherm model, which supports the monolayer formation of Cr (VI) on adsorbents surface. The maximum adsorption capacity of the adsorbent was obtained as16.32 mg/g and 10.17 mg/g for **AC**- EVML and **AC**-EA, which is higher than many of the adsorbents available. The kinetic data are well explained by the second-order kinetic model. The adsorption of Cr (VI) on adsorbents is more favorable at low pH values. It is found that the adsorption process of Cr (VI) removal using adsorbents, are controlled by intra-particle diffusion mechanisms. The developed second-order polynomial equation is found appropriate for expressing the adsorption capacity as a function of dependent parameters such as initial Cr (VI) concentration, contact time and initial pH of the solution. The finding of this study shows that **AC**- EVML and **AC**-EA adsorbents are promising bio-based adsorbents for removal of Cr (VI) from water solution.

5.2 Recommendation

From this study work, we understand the activated carbon of **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA have an ability to remove chromium (VI) from aqueous solution, therefore, the following direction of work is recommended to use in real wastewater treatments. In this study, only the effect of effect of initial concentration, pH, and contact time were studied. Thus, other parameters need further study to increase the efficiency of chromium (VI) ion uptake. Optimized removal efficiency of the **AC**-EVML and **AC**-EA adsorbent can be done through continuous column experiment, and try to immobilize the adsorbent on materials to improve its removal capacity. I also recommended that during adsorption they take long time.

The FTIR IR for the AC-EA have some unclear characterization it should be characterized by other techniques.

6. REFERENCES

- Mumbai, N. Adsorption for the removal of chromium using natural adsorbents effect of Adsorbent Doses on Adsorption Of. 2016, 1951–1955.
- Tawabini, B. S.; Atieh, M. A.; Bakather, O. Y.; Bukhari, A. A.; Khaled, M.; Alharthi, M.; Fettouhi, M.; Abuilaiwi, F. A. Removal of Chromium (III) from Water by Using Modified and Nonmodified Carbon Nanotubes. *J. Nanomater*.2010, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/232378.
- (3) Raut, P. A.; Chahande, A.; Moharkar, Y. Various Techniques for the Removal of Chromium and Lead from Waste Water: Review. *International J. Emergency. Trends Eng. Basic Sci.*2015, 2 (2), 64–67.
- (4) Bayuo, J.; Pelig-Ba, K. B.; Abukari, M. A. Adsorptive Removal of Chromium(VI) from Aqueous Solution unto Groundnut Shell. *Appl. Water Sci.*2019, 9 (4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-019-0987-8.
- (5) Dula, T.; Siraj, K.; Kitte, S. A. Adsorption of Hexavalent Chromium from Aqueous Solution Using Chemically Activated Carbon Prepared from Locally Available Waste of Bamboo (Oxytenanthera Abyssinica). *ISRN Environ. Chem.***2014**, 2014, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/438245.
- (6) Qurie, M.; Khamis, M.; Manassra, A.; Ayyad, I.; Nir, S.; Scrano, L.; Bufo, S. A.; Karaman, R. Removal of Cr(VI) from Aqueous Environments Using Micelle-Clay Adsorption. *Sci. World J.*2013, 2013.
- (7) Thallapalli, B.; Prasad, S. Removal of Chromium From Wastewater Using Low Cost Removal of Chromium From Wastewater Using Low. World J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci.2015, 4 (10).
- (8) Maremeni, L. C.; Modise, S. J.; Mtunzi, F. M.; Klink, M. J.; Pakade, V. E. Adsorptive Removal of Hexavalent Chromium by Diphenylcarbazide-Grafted Macadamia Nutshell Powder. *Bioinorg. Chem. Appl.***2018**, 2018 (i). https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6171906.
- (9) Onchoke, K. K.; Sasu, S. A. Determination of Hexavalent Chromium (Cr(VI)) Concentrations via Ion Chromatography and UV-Vis Spectrophotometry in Samples Collected from Nacogdoches Wastewater Treatment Plant, East Texas (USA). *Adv. Environ. Chem.***2016**, 2016 (Iii), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3468635.

- (10) Castro-Castro, J. D.; Macías-Quiroga, I. F.; Giraldo-Gómez, G. I.; Sanabria-González, N.
 R. Adsorption of Cr(VI) in Aqueous Solution Using a Surfactant-Modified Bentonite. *Sci. World J.*2020, 2020 (17). https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3628163.
- (11) Sharma, P. K.; Ayub, S.; Tripathi, C. N. Isotherms Describing Physical Adsorption of Cr (VI) from Aqueous Solution Using Various Agricultural Wastes as Adsorbents. *Cogent Eng.*2016, 73 (1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2016.1186857.
- (12) Briffa, J.; Sinagra, E.; Blundell, R. Heliyon Heavy Metal Pollution in the Environment and Their Toxicological Effects on Humans. *Heliyon*2020, *6* (August),
- (13) Jaishankar, M.; Tseten, T.; Anbalagan, N.; Mathew, B. B.; Beeregowda, K. N. Toxicity, Mechanism and Health Effects of Some Heavy Metals. 2014, 7 https://doi.org/10.2478/intox-2014-0009.
- (14) Arief, V. O.; Trilestari, K.; Sunarso, J.; Indraswati, N.; Ismadji, S.; Mandala, W.; Catholic, S.; Mandala, W.; Catholic, S. Review Recent Progress on Biosorption of Heavy Metals from Liquids Using Low Cost Biosorbents : Characterization, Biosorption Parameters and Mechanism Studies. 2008, *36* (12), 937–962. https://doi.org/10.1002/clen.200800167.
- (15) Crini, G.; Lichtfouse, E.; Wilson, L.; Morin-crini, N.; Crini, G.; Lichtfouse, E.; Wilson, L.; Conventional, N. M. Conventional and Non-Conventional Adsorbents for Wastewater Treatment To Cite This Version: HAL Id: Hal-02082916 Conventional and Non Conventional Adsorbents for Wastewater Treatment. *Environ. Chem. Lett.*2019, *17* (1), 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-018-0786-8.
- (16) Owlad, M.; Aroua, M. K. Removal of Hexavalent Chromium-Contaminated Water and Wastewater : A Removal of Hexavalent Chromium-Contaminated Water and Wastewater : A Review. 2008, No. June. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-008-9893-7.
- (17) Cont, J. P. E. Journal of Pollution Effects & Control Removal of Heavy Metals from Industrial Waste Water by Biomass-Based Materials : A Review. 2017, 5 (1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.4172/2375-4397.1000180.
- (18) Rafati, L.; Mahvi, A. H.; Asgari, A. R.; Hosseini, S. S. Removal of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solutions Using Lewatit FO36 Nano Ion Exchange Resin. 2010, 7 (1), 147–156.
- (19) Birhanu, Y.; Leta, S.; Adam, G. Removal of Chromium from Synthetic Wastewater by Adsorption onto Ethiopian Low - Cost Odaracha Adsorbent. *Appl. Water Sci.*2020, *10* (11), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-020-01310-3.

- (20) Wiryawan, A.; Suntari, R.; Kusuma, Z.; Retnowati, R.; Burhan, R. Y. P. Method of Analysis for Determination of the Chromium (Cr) Species in Water Samples by Spectrophotometry with Diphenylcarbazide. **2018**, *11* (01), 391–406.
- (21) Indhumathi, P.; Syed Shabudeen, P. S.; Shoba, U. S.; Saraswathy, C. P. The Removal of Chromium from Aqueous Solution by Using Green Micro Algae. J. Chem. Pharm. Res.2014, 6 (6), 799–808.
- (22) Maheshwari, U.; Gupta, S. Removal of Cr(VI) from Wastewater Using a Natural Nanoporous Adsorbent: Experimental, Kinetic and Optimization Studies. *Adsorpt. Sci. Technol.*2015, 33 (1), 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1260/0263-6174.33.1.71.
- (23) Labied, R. Adsorption of Hexavalent Chromium by Activated Carbon Obtained from a Waste Lignocellulosic Material (Ziziphus Jujuba Cores): Kinetic, Equilibrium, and Thermodynamic Study. 2018.
- (24) Sanchez-Hachair, A.; Hofmann, A. Hexavalent Chromium Quantification in Solution: Comparing Direct UV–Visible Spectrometry with 1,5-Diphenylcarbazide Colorimetry. *Comptes Rendus Chim.***2018**, *21* (9), 890–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crci.2018.05.002.
- (25) Suvardhan, K.; Ramanaiah, S.; Kumar, K. S.; Rekha, D.; Bhagan, U.; Naidu, G. R. K.; Naidu, G. K.; Sastry, B. S.; Chiranjeevi, P. Spectrophotometric Determination of Chromium in Water, and Pharmaceutical Samples Using 1-Naphthol. *E-Journal Chem.***2005**, *2* (1), 6–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2005/140534.
- (26) Tan, L. Van; Hieu, T. Q.; Cuong, N. Van. Spectrophotometric Determination of Cr (III) and Pb (II) Using Their Complexes with 5, 11, 17, 23-Tetra [(2-Ethyl Acetoethoxyphenyl)(Azo) Phenyl] Calix [4] Arene. 2015, 2015, 15–17.
- (27) Malik, D. S.; Jain, C. K.; Yadav, A. K. Removal of Heavy Metals from Emerging Cellulosic Low-Cost Adsorbents: A Review. *Appl. Water Sci.*2017, 7 (5), 2113–2136. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-016-0401-8.
- (28) Attia, A. A.; Khedr, S. A.; Elkholy, S. A. Adsorption of Chromium Ion (VI) by Acid Activated Carbon. *Brazilian J. Chem. Eng.* **2010**, 27 (1), 183–193.
- (29) Fisiaha, A. Addis Ababa University Addis Ababa Institute of Technology (Aait) School of Chemical and Bio Engineering Process Engineering Stream Bioethanol Production From Barley- Spent Grain (Breweries Spent Grain) Addis Ababa University Addis Ababa Institute Of. 2016, No. June.

- (33) Alemu, A.; Lemma, B.; Gabbiye, N.; Foo, K. Y. Adsorption of Chromium (III) from Aqueous Solution Using Vesicular Basalt Rock. *Cogent Environ. Sci.*2019, 5 (1), 1650416. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311843.2019.1650416.
- (31) Yang, J.; Li, C.; Yang, B.; Kang, S.; Zhang, Z. Study on Adsorption of Chromium (VI) by Activated Carbon from Cassava Sludge. *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci.*2018, *128* (1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/128/1/012017.
- (32) Jiménez-castañeda, M. E.; Escamilla-garcía, P. E. Chromium Removal from Water Using Modi Fi Ed Organic Materials: A Review. 2020, 221–233. https://doi.org/10.2166/wqrj.2020.020.
- (33) Jeyaseelan, C.; Gupta, A. Green Tea Leaves as a Natural Adsorbent for the Removal of Cr(VI) from Aqueous Solutions. *Air, Soil Water Res.*2016, 9 (Vi), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.4137/ASWR.S35227.
- (34) Tadesse, B. Addis Ababa Institute of Technology School of Chemical and Bioengineering Environmental Engineering Stream Chromium (Iii) Removal From Aqueous Solution Using Modified Moringa Oleifera Seedpod As Bio-Adsorbent. Chromium Remov. from aqueous Solut. using Modif. Moringa oleifera seedpod as bio-adsorbent2018, .
- (35) Vo, A. T.; Nguyen, V. P.; Ouakouak, A.; Nieva, A. Water E Ffi Cient Removal of Cr (VI)
) from Water by Biochar and Activated Carbon Prepared through Hydrothermal Carbonization and Pyrolysis : *Mdpi*2019, *11* (Vi), 1–14.
- (36) Politi, D.; Sidiras, D. Modified Spruce Sawdust for Sorption of Hexavalent Chromium in Batch Systems and Fixed-Bed Columns. *Molecules*2020, 25 (21). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25215156
- (37) Mitra, S.; Sarkar, A.; Sen, S. Removal of Chromium from Industrial Effluents Using Nanotechnology: A Review. *Nanotechnol. Environ. Eng.*2017, 2 (1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41204-017-0022-y.
- (38) Mgombezi, D.; Rao, V.; Vuai, S. H.; Singh, S. K. An Investigation On Effectiveness Of Cactus Materials (Opuntia Spp.) As Adsorbentsfor Hard Water Treatment. 2017.
- (39) Zewdu, F.; Amare, M.; Wong, B. M. Determination of the Level of Hexavalent, Trivalent, and Total Chromium in the Discharged Effluent of Bahir Dar Tannery Using ICP-OES and UV–Visible Spectrometry. *Cogent Chem.***2018**, *4* (1), 1534566. https://doi.org/10.1080/23312009.2018.1534566.

- (40) Aoudj, S.; Khelifa, A.; Drouiche, N.; Belkada, R.; Miroud, D. Simultaneous Removal of Chromium (VI) and Fluoride by Electrocoagulation – Electroflotation : Application of a Hybrid Fe-Al Anode. *Chem. Eng. J.*2015, 267, 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2014.12.081.
- (41) Torregrosa-maci, R. Chromium(vi) Removal with Activated Carbons. 1995, 29 (9), 2174–2180.
- (42) Moura, R. C. A.; Bertuol, D. A.; Ferreira, C. A.; Amado, F. D. R. Study of Chromium Removal by the Electrodialysis of Tannery and Metal-Finishing Effluents. 2012,. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/179312.
- (43)Mor, S. Adsorption of Chromium from Aqueous Solution by Activated Alumina and Activated Charcoal. **2007**, *98*, 954–957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.03.018.
- (44) Durano, D.; Trochimczuk, A. W.; Beker, U. Kinetics and Thermodynamics of Hexavalent Chromium Adsorption onto Activated Carbon Derived from Acrylonitrile-Divinylbenzene Copolymer. 2012, 187, 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.01.120.
- (45) Kumar, H.; Lal, K.; Avneesh, M.; Gehlaut, K.; Singh, D.; Maken, S. Adsorptive Removal of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solution Using Binary Bio - Polymeric Beads Made from Bagasse. *Appl. Water Sci.***2020**, *10* (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-019-1101-y.
- (46) Ii, P. Z.; Ii, C.; Mn, D.; Daripada, I. I.; Akueus, L.; Penjerapan, M.; Jagung, P. T. removal of zn (ii), cd (ii) and mn (ii) from aqueous solutions by adsorption on maize stalks.
 2011, 15 (1), 8–21.
- (47) (59) Dehghani, M. H.; Sanaei, D.; Ali, I.; Bhatnagar, A. Removal of Chromium(VI) from Aqueous Solution Using Treated Waste Newspaper as a Low-Cost Adsorbent: Kinetic Modeling and Isotherm Studies. J. Mol. Liq.2016, 215, 671–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2015.12.057.
- (48) Mnasri-ghnimi, S.; Frini-srasra, N. Applied Clay Science Removal of Heavy Metals from Aqueous Solutions by Adsorption Using Single and Mixed Pillared Clays. *Appl. Clay Sci.*2019, *179* (June), 105151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2019.105151.
- (49) Wang, C.; Gu, L.; Liu, X.; Zhang, X.; Cao, L. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation Sorption Behavior of Cr (VI) on Pineapple-Peel-Derived Biochar and the

in Fl Uence of Coexisting Pyrene. *Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation***2016**, *111*, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2016.04.029.

- (50) Feng, B.; Shen, W.; Shi, L.; Qu, S. Adsorption of Hexavalent Chromium by Polyacrylonitrile-Based Porous Carbon from Aqueous Solution. *R. Soc. Open Sci.*2018, 5 (1). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.171662.
- (51) Alandis, N. M.; Mekhamer, W.; Aldayel, O.; Hefne, J. A. A.; Alam, M. Adsorptive Applications of Montmorillonite Clay for the Removal of Ag (I) and Cu (II) from Aqueous Medium. 2019.
- (52) Song, D.; Pan, K.; Tariq, A.; Azizullah, A.; Sun, F.; Li, Z.; Xiong, Q. Adsorptive Removal of Toxic Chromium from Waste-Water Using Wheat Straw and Eupatorium Adenophorum. *PLoS One***2016**, *11* (12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167037.
- (53) Kampalanonwat, P.; Supaphol, P. The Study of Competitive Adsorption of Heavy Metal Ions from Aqueous Solution by Aminated Polyacrylonitrile Nanofiber Mats. *Energy Procedia*2014, 56, 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.07.142.
- (54) Padmavathy, K. S.; Murali, A.; Madhu, G.; Sahoo, D. K. Adsorption of Hexavalent Chromium (Cr(VI)) from Wastewater Using Novel Chitosan/Halloysite Clay Nanocomposite Films. *Indian J. Chem. Technol.* **2017**, *24* (6), 593–600.
- (55) Dzieniszewska, A.; Kyziol-Komosinska, J.; Pająk, M. Adsorption and Bonding Strength of Chromium Species by Ferrihydrite from Acidic Aqueous Solutions. *PeerJ2020*, 2020 (6). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9324.
- (56) Zhou, L.; Liu, Y.; Liu, S.; Yin, Y.; Zeng, G.; Tan, X.; Hu, X.; Hu, X.; Jiang, L.; Ding, Y.; Liu, S.; Huang, X. Bioresource Technology Investigation of the Adsorption-Reduction Mechanisms of Hexavalent Chromium by Ramie Biochars of Different Pyrolytic Temperatures. 2016, 218, 351–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.06.102.
- (57) Tadesse, A. T.; Seyoum, L. A. Evaluation of Selected Wetland Plants for Removal of Chromium from Tannery Wastewater in Constructed Wetlands, Ethiopia. *African J. Environ. Sci. Technol.***2015**, *9* (5), 420–427. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajest2014.1793.
- (58) Nag Shanmugam, K. B. Evaluation of Chromium (VI) Removal by Carbons Derived from Sesamum Indicum Oil Cake. J. South. African Inst. Min. Metall.2018, 118 (4), 369–376. https://doi.org/10.17159/2411-9717/2018/v118n4a6

- (59) Agarwal, D.; Agarwal, D. Removal of Chromium (Cr + 6)& Fluoride (F-) From Water by Adsorption. 2017, 8 (1), 446–453.
- (60) Babel, S.; Kurniawan, T. A. Cr (VI) Removal from Synthetic Wastewater Using Coconut Shell Charcoal and Commercial Activated Carbon Modified with Oxidizing Agents and/or Chitosan. *Chemosphere*2004, 54 (7), 951–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2003.10.001.
- (61) Baral, S. S.; Das, S. N.; Rath, P. Hexavalent Chromium Removal from Aqueous Solution by Adsorption on Treated Sawdust. *Biochem. Eng. J.*2006, *31* (3), 216–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2006.08.003.
- (62) Chen, J.; Hong, X.; Zhao, Y.; Zhang, Q. Removal of Hexavalent Chromium from Aqueous Solution Using Exfoliated Polyaniline/Montmorillonite Composite. *Water Sci. Technol.*2014, 70 (4), 678–684. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2014.277.
- (63) Gottipati, R. Preparation and Characterization of Microporous Activated Carbon from Biomass and Its Application in the Removal of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Phase Department of Chemical Engineering. *Dep. Chem. Eng. Natl. Inst. Technol. Rourkela Odisha, India*2012, No. January, 1–242.
- (64) Gandhi, N.; Sirisha, D.; Sekhar, K. B. C. Adsorption Studies of Chromium by Using Low-Cost Adsorbents. *Our Nat.* 2013, *11* (1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.3126/on.v11i1.8238.
- (65) Attia, A. A.; Khedr, S. A.; Elkholy, S. A. Adsorption of Chromium Ion (VI) by Acid Activated Carbon. *Brazilian J. Chem. Eng.*2010, 27 (1), 183–193. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0104-66322010000100016.
- (66) Jeyaseelan, C.; Gupta, A. Green Tea Leaves as a Natural Adsorbent for the Removal of Cr
 (VI) from Aqueous Solutions. *Air, Soil Water Res.*2016, 9 (Vi), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.4137/ASWR.S35227.

- (67) Mahmudi, M.; Arsad, S.; Amelia, M. C.; Rohmaningsih, H. A.; Prasetiya, F. S.An Alternative Activated Carbon from Agricultural Waste on Chromium Removal. J. Ecol. Eng. 2020, 21 (8), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/127431.
- (68) Melese, T.; Chala, K.; Ayele, Y.; Abdisa, M. Preparation, Characterization of Raw Corncob Adsorbent for Removal of Heavy Metal Ions from Aqueous Solution Using Batch Method. 2020, 14. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJPAC2019.0817.
- (69) .Olayinka, O. K.; Oyedeji, O. A.; Oyeyiola, O. A. Removal of Chromium and Nickel Ions from Aqueous Solution by Adsorption on Modified Coconut Husk. *African J. Environ. Sci. Technol.*2009, *3* (10), 286–293. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST09.053.
- (70) Pandey, P. K.; Sharma, S. K.; Sambi, S. S. Kinetics and Equilibrium Study of Chromium Adsorption on Zeolitenax. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.*2010, 7 (2), 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03326149.
- (71) Priyadharshini, B.; Abraham, M.; VarshaaLaxmi, P.; Kavisri, M. Experimental Investigation on Removal of Chromium Metal Using Coconut Shell. Int. J. Adv. Sci. Technol.2020, 29 (6), 103–109.
- (72) Sallau, A. B.; Aliyu, S.; Ukuwa, S. Biosorption of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solution by Corn Cob Powder. *Int. J. Environ. Bioenergy*. 2012, *4* (3), 131–140.
- (73) Shoaib, A.; Aslam, N.; Akhtar, S.; Khurshid, S. Removal of Cr (III) through Bread Mold Fungus. *Polish J. Environ. Stud.*2013, 22 (4).
- (74) Shukla, D.; Vankar, P. S.; Srivastava, S. K. Bioremediation of Hexavalent Chromium by a Cyanobacterial Mat. *Appl. Water Sci.*2012, 2 (4), 245–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-012-0044-3.
- (75) Bankole, M. T.; Abdulkareem, A. S.; Mohammed, I. A.; Ochigbo, S. S.; Tijani, J. O.; Abubakre, O. K.; Roos, W. D. Selected Heavy Metals Removal from Electroplating Wastewater by Purified and Polyhydroxylbutyrate Functionalized Carbon Nanotubes Adsorbents. *Sci. Rep.*2019, 9 (1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37899-4

- (76) Soundari, L.; Agilan, A.; Rajarajan, K. Removal of Chromium from Industrial Waste Water By Adsorption Using Coconutshell and Palmshell. 2018, 827–830.
- (77) Ahmad Bhat, S.; Hassan, T.; Majid, S.International Journal of Medical Science and Diagnosis research (ijmsdr) heavy metal toxicity and their harmful effects on living organisms-a review. 2019, No. January. https://doi.org/10.32553/JMSDR.
- (78) AzehEngwa, G.; Udoka Ferdinand, P.; NwekeNwalo, F.; N. Unachukwu, M. Mechanism and Health Effects of Heavy Metal Toxicity in Humans. *Poisoning Mod. World - New Tricks an Old Dog*?**2019**, No. June. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.82511.
- (79) Chakraborty, A. R.; Mishra, R. K. Speciation and Determination of Chromium in Waters+. *Chem. Speciat. Bioavailab*.1992, 4 (4), 131–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/09542299.1992.11083191.
- (80) Ghasemi, E.; Kaykhaii, M. Determination of Zinc, Copper, and Mercury in Water Samples by Using Novel Micro Cloud Point Extraction and UV-Vis Spectrophotometry. *Eurasian J. Anal. Chem.*2017, *12* (4), 313–324. https://doi.org/10.12973/ejac.2017.00172a.
- (81) Jang, E. H.; Pack, S. P.; Kim, I.; Chung, S. A Systematic Study of Hexavalent Chromium Adsorption and Removal from Aqueous Environments Using Chemically Functionalized Amorphous and Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles. *Sci. Rep.*2020, *10* (1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61505-1.
- (82) Lace, A.; Ryan, D.; Bowkett, M.; Cleary, J. Chromium Monitoring in Water by Colorimetry Using Optimised 1,5-Diphenylcarbazide Method. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health***2019**, *16* (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16101803.
- (83) Lakshmi, T.; Rajendran, R.; Ezhilarasan, D. Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometric Analysis of Heavy Metals in Acacia Catechu Willd. Int. J. Pharmacogn. Phytochem. Res.2015, 7 (4), 777–781.

- (84) Lawson-Wood, K.; Robertson, I.; Green, S. Water Analysis Using LAMBDA UV/Visible Spectrophotometers: Hexavalent Chromium Determination. 2015, No. VI, 0–2.
- (85) Length, F. Heavy Metal Pollution and Human Biotoxic Effects. Int. J. Phys. Sci. 2007, 2 (5), 112–118.
- (86) Merchant, R. R.; Painter, Z. Z. Study of Removal of Heavy Metals from Waste Water by Adsorption. Int. J. Appl. Eng. Res. 2019, 14 (1), 63–68.
- (87) Nasirudeen, M. B.; Amaechi, A. U. Spectrophotometric Determination of Heavy Metals in Cosmetics Sourced from Kaduna Metropolis, Nigeria. *Sci. World J.***2015**, *10* (3), 1–5.
- (88) Rouhollahi, A.; Tavakoli, H.; Nayebi, S.; Ghasemi, J.; Noroozi, M.; Hashemi, M. Simultaneous Spectrophotometric Determination of Heavy Metal Ions Using Several Chemometrics Methods: Effect of Different Parameters of Savitzky-Golay and Direct Orthogonal Signal Correction Filters. *Iran. J. Chem. Chem. Eng.* 2007, 26 (2), 41–51.
- (89) Salehzadeh, J. Removal of Heavy Metals Pb2+, Cu2+, Zn2+, Cd2+, Ni2+, Co2+ and Fe3+ from Aqueous Solutions by Using Xanthium Pensylvanicum. *Leonardo J. Sci.*2013, *12* (23), 97–104.
- (90) Sánchez, A. A.; Herrera, M. M.; Carrión, J. F.; Villa, M. A. Detection of Heavy Metals in Hydric Resources through the Optical Analysis of Exposed Flora. 2019, No. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2529857.
- (91) Sari, T. K.; Takahashi, F.; Jin, J.; Zein, R.; Munaf, E. Electrochemical Determination of Chromium (VI) in River Water with Gold Nanoparticles-Graphene Nanocomposites Modified Electrodes. *Anal. Sci.*2018, 34 (2), 155–160. https://doi.org/10.2116/analsci.34.155.
- (92) WHO Europe. Exposure of Children to Chemical Hazards in Food. *Eur. Environ. Heal. Inf. Syst.*2009, No. Fact Sheet 4.4.

- (93) Wiryawan, A.; Suntari, R.; Kusuma, Z.; Retnowati, R.; Burhan, Ryp. Method of Analysis for Determination of the Chromium (Cr) Species in Water Samples by Spectrophotometry with Diphenylcarbazide. *J. Environ. Eng. Sustain. Technol.***2018**, *5* (01), 37–46.
- (94) Mulani, K.; Daniels, S.; Rajdeo, K.; Tambe, S.; Chavan, N. Adsorption of Chromium(VI) from Aqueous Solutions by Coffee Polyphenol-Formaldehyde/Acetaldehyde Resins. J. Polym.2013,, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/798368.
- (95) Yusuff, A. S. Optimization of Adsorption of Cr(VI) from Aqueous Solution by Leucaena Leucocephala Seed Shell Activated Carbon Using Design of Experiment. *Appl. Water Sci.*2018, 8 (8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-018-0850-3.
- (96) Kumar, H.; Lal, K.; Avneesh, M.; Gehlaut, K.; Singh, D.; Maken, S. Adsorptive Removal of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solution Using Binary Bio - Polymeric Beads Made from Bagasse. *Appl. Water Sci.***2020**, *10* (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-019-1101-y.
- (97) Y. M. A. Removal of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solution by Natural Clay. Arch. Bus. Res.2018, 6 (8), 2–10. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.68.4843.
- (98) Berihun, D. Removal of Chromium from Industrial Wastewater by Adsorption Using Coffee Husk. J. Mater. Sci. Eng.2017, 06 (02), 6–11. https://doi.org/10.4172/2169-0022.1000331.
- (99) Gupta, A.; Yadav, R.; Devi, P. Removal of Hexavalent Chromium Using Activated Coconut Shell and Activated Coconut Coir as Low-Cost Adsorbent. *IIOAB J.*2011, 2 (3), 8–12
- (100) Malik, D. S.; Jain, C. K.; Yadav, A. K. Removal of Heavy Metals from Emerging Cellulosic Low-Cost Adsorbents: A Review. *Appl. Water Sci.***2017**, 7 (5), 2113–2136. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-016-0401-8.
- (102) Tang, S.; Chen, Y.; Xie, R.; Jiang, W.; Jiang, Y. Preparation of Activated Carbon from Corn Cob and Its Adsorption Behavior on Cr (VI) Removal. *Water Sci. Technol.*2016, 73 (11), 2654–2661. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2016.120.

- (103) Chen, J.; Hong, X.; Zhao, Y.; Zhang, Q. Removal of Hexavalent Chromium from Aqueous Solution Using Exfoliated Polyaniline/Montmorillonite Composite. *Water Sci. Technol.*2014, 70 (4), 678–684. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2014.277.
- (104) Nur-E-Alam, M.; Mia, M. A. S.; Ahmad, F.; Rahman, M. M. An Overview of Chromium Removal Techniques from Tannery Effluent. *Appl. Water Sci.*2020, *10* (9), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-020-01286-0.
- (105) Owlad, M.; Aroua, M. K.; Daud, W. A. W.; Baroutian, S. Removal of Hexavalent Chromium-Contaminated Water and Wastewater: A Review. *Water. Air. Soil Pollut.*2009, 200 (1–4), 59–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-008-9893-7.
- (106) Popuri, S. R.; Jammala, A.; Reddy, K. V. N. S.; Abburi, K. Biosorption of Hexavalent Chromium Using Tamarind (Tamarindus Indica) Fruit Shell-a Comparative Study. *Electron. J. Biotechnol.*2007, *10* (3), 358–367. https://doi.org/10.2225/vol10-issue3fulltext-11.